**RECEIVED**

**Oct 21 2024**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM AIKEN COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
Clifton B. Newman, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2024-000659

---

David L. Lambert and Julia H. Beamish, Appellants,

v.

Aiken County Planning Commission, Aiken County  
Government, Pyramid Network Solutions for Verizon  
Wireless, Respondents.

---

INITIAL BRIEF  
OF APPELLANTS

---

Clarke W. McCants, III  
Clarke W. McCants, IV  
Nance & McCants  
Post Office Box 2881  
Aiken, S.C. 29802  
Attorneys for Appellants

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR BY NOT REMANDING THIS MATTER TO THE AIKEN COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION AND REQUIRING THE COMMISSION TO SET FORTH IN WRITING ITS FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS WITH RESPECT TO ITS DECISION TO GRANT VERIZON'S APPLICATION FOR THE CONSTRUCTION AND OPERATION OF A CELL TOWER WITHIN THE BLUFFWOOD EAST COMMUNITY?

2. DOES THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED TO THE PLANNING COMMISSION SUPPORT ITS DECISION TO ALLOW VERIZON TO CONSTRUCT AND OPERATE A CELL TOWER WITHIN THE BLUFFWOOD EAST COMMUNITY?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter is an appeal of a decision of the Respondent Aiken County Planning Commission (referred to here as “the Planning Commission”) and by which it approved an application to construct a wireless telecommunications facility (referred to here as “the Cell Tower”) on a parcel of real estate located in Aiken County. The application to construct the Cell Tower was presented to the Planning Commission by the Respondent Pyramid Network Solutions for Verizon Wireless (referred to here as “Verizon”).

The parcel of property where the Cell Tower is proposed to be located is owned by the Gerald L. Waters Living Trust, which is not a party in this case (referred to here as “the Waters Property”)<sup>1</sup>. The Appellants, David L. Lambert and Julia Beamish, own two parcels of property directly adjacent to the Waters Property, and where they reside during certain parts of the year. One of their lots was purchased from Mr. Waters in 2010 and the other was purchased from him in September 2020.

The Appellants' property is located within what is known as the Bluffwood East

---

<sup>1</sup> Mr. Waters, individually, purchased the property in January 2006 and transferred it to his living trust in January 2006.

development. Bluffwood East is a planned equestrian and residential community, and is governed by the “Restrictive Covenants for Bluffwood East.” (“the Restrictive Covenants”). The Appellants also contend that the Waters’ property, where the Cell Tower is proposed to be located, is also part of Bluffwood East and is governed by those covenants.

The Restrictive Covenants, which are signed by Mr. Waters, first state: “The property described herein is specifically made subject to the following “Restrictive Covenants”. Mr. Waters is the “grantor” under the terms of the covenants. They then provide:

1. Grantor intends that this property and *other nearby property owned by Grantor*, shall be known as Bluffwood East. (emphasis added).

The Restrictive Covenants further state:

6. No commercial activity shall be conducted on subject property specifically including, but not limited to, chicken houses, hog farms, or bait farms. The boarding and training of horses is permitted. It will be the responsibility of each owner to contain the animals on their property, and to prevent them from becoming a nuisance to their neighbor.

(Restrictive Covenants for Bluffwood East).

There is no question that the operation of a wireless communications facility within Bluffwood East is a proscribed “commercial activity”.

Verizon’s application to construct a cell tower on the Waters’ property was considered by the Planning Commission during three separate public hearings beginning in October 2022. (Record of Planning Commission; Order of Judge Newman dated 12/28/23). In addition to the Appellants a number of other residents of Bluffwood East appeared before the Planning Commission and expressed their objections to approval of the application.

Those objections are two-fold: (1) the Restrictive Covenants for Bluffwood East do

not allow the construction and operation of a cell tower within the Bluffwood community and (2) the construction and operation of such a tower within the community greatly and adversely affects the aesthetic nature of the community and adversely impacts the visual aspects of the land within and around the community.

During the course of the three hearings held before the Planning Commission the Appellants offered to its members a copy of a plat of Bluffwood East Mr. Waters gave to them in 2020 when they first bought property in Bluffwood East from him. (Record of Planning Commission). This plat is referred to Plat “A”. Importantly, the lots designated as 34, 35 and 36 on Plat “A” were owned by Mr. Waters at the time he gave that plat to the Appellants.

One of the lots purchased by the Appellants from Mr. Waters is a portion of Lot 36 on Plat “A”. The Cell Tower is proposed to be built on Lot 34 - which is owned by Mr. Waters. At the hearings before the Planning Commission the Appellants told its members that the property they purchased from Mr. Waters was subject to the Restrictive Covenants, as well as the “other nearby property” owned by him.

At some point between the dates of the three hearings held before the Planning Commission, the Commission’s staff undertook to research the issue of whether Lot 34 was subject to the Restrictive Covenants and, therefore, prohibited the installation and operation of the Cell Tower. The staff of the Commission concluded that it was not so restricted.

The last of the three hearings before the Planning Commission was held on January 19, 2023. At the conclusion of that hearing, and in a vote split amongst its members, the Commission verbally approved Verizon’s application to construct and operate the Cell Tower on Lot 34 as shown on Plat “A”. The Commission did not reduce its decision to writing, explaining why it voted to

approve the application.

The Appellants then appealed the Planning Commission's decision to the Court of Common Pleas for Aiken County. Following a hearing held before the Honorable Clifton B. Newman, Circuit Court Judge, the Planning Commission's decision was affirmed. (Order of Judge Newman dated December 28, 2023).

The Appellants then filed a Motion to Alter and /or Amend Judge Clifton's order affirming the decision of the Planning Commission. (Motion to Alter and /or Amend dated January 8, 2024). Judge Newman subsequently summarily denied the Appellants' motion. (Order of Judge Newman dated 3/18/24). The Appellants then filed a Notice of Appeal of Judge Newman's orders for this case.

On April 19, 2024 the Appellants and several other residents of Bluffwood East commenced a civil action in Aiken County against Mr. Waters and his Living Trust, titled Julia H. Beamish, et al. v. Gerald Waters, et al., and bearing Civil Action No. 2024CP0200989. By way of that civil action the plaintiffs seek a declaration from the court that Lots 34, 35, the remaining portion of Lot 36 owned by Mr. Waters, and "other nearby property" still owned by him or his Trust, are subject to the Restrictive Covenants for Bluffwood East.

Mr. Waters and his Trust answered the lawsuit and also asserted counterclaims against the plaintiffs. As part of their counterclaims, Mr. Waters and his Trust denied that Lot 34 as shown on Plat "A" is subject to the Restrictive Covenants. In support of that position counsel for Mr. Waters and his Trust attached, as an exhibit to their pleading, another plat of Bluffwood East, which is referred to here as Plat "B".

The production of Plat "B" was startling to the Appellants as well as the other

plaintiffs in the civil action. As can be readily seen, Plat “A” and Plat “B” are distinctly different from each other, and particularly with respect to the issues presented in this appeal as well as the civil action filed in Aiken County - Plat “B” does not show Lots 34, 35 and 36. It is clear that Plat “A” was prepared after Plat “B” was prepared, as Lots 34, 35 and 36 are drawn over and obscure portions of certain surveying information shown on the upper right side of Plat “A”.

The logical conclusions to be drawn by the discovery of Plat “B” is that it predates Plat “A” and has likely been used by Mr. Waters in an attempt to show that Lot 34 - where the Cell Tower is proposed to be located - is not a part of Bluffwood East and is, therefore, not subject to the Restrictive Covenants. In other words, Mr. Waters probably has used two plats of Bluffwood East, which contain conflicting information, and for different purposes.

In light of the discovery of Plat “B” the Appellants have, along with this Brief, filed a motion before this Court, pursuant to Rule 60(b)(2), SCRPC. They contend that the revelation of Plat “B” is newly discovered evidence which bears on the relevant issues pending before this Court.

As there are no means of discovery allowed in the matter before the Planning Commission there is no way the Appellants, using due diligence or otherwise, could have uncovered the existence of Plat “B” during the course of the Commission’s consideration of the application for construction and operation of the Cell Tower.

Further, the Appellants contend that had the Planning Commission been made aware of the existence of Plat “B” a majority, if not all, of its members would have summarily denied Verizon’s application for the Cell Tower; it clearly shows that after Plat “B” was prepared Mr. Waters expanded the boundaries of Bluffwood East using Plat “A” - which he gave to the Appellants - and made Lot 34, as well as Lots 35 and 36, subject to the Restrictive Covenants, which bars

construction and operation of the Cell Tower on those properties. At a minimum, Lots 34, 35 and 36 are “nearby property” owned by Mr. Waters as defined by the Restrictive Covenants and, therefore, are subject to the Covenants.

The Appellants respectfully assert that this Court should grant the Appellants’ Motion to introduce Plat “B” into evidence as part of this case, and remand this matter to the Planning Commission for additional proceedings before it with respect to consideration of Verizon’s application to build and construct a Cell Tower on Lot 34.

During the pendency of that remand counsel in the civil action intend to conduct discovery to determine the exact facts and circumstances surrounding the preparation of both Plats “A” and “B”, as well as the facts and circumstances surrounding Mr. Waters’ contact with Verizon and what he told them with regard to the existence or non-existence of the Restrictive Covenants as that issue bears on the resolution of the issues presented before this Court.

## **ARGUMENTS**

### **I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED BY NOT REMANDING THIS MATTER TO THE AIKEN COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION AND REQUIRING THE COMMISSION TO SET FORTH IN WRITING ITS FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS WITH RESPECT TO ITS DECISION TO GRANT VERIZON’S APPLICATION FOR THE CONSTRUCTION AND OPERATION OF A CELL TOWER WITHIN THE BLUFFWOOD EAST COMMUNITY.**

The Appellants submit that the standard of review to be used by this Court in this case is whether the Planning Commission’s decision lacks evidentiary support or is affected by an error of law. Grays Hill Baptist Church v. Beaufort County, 431 S.C. 630, 850 S.E.2d 29 (2020).

The Appellants first contend that the Planning Commission erred, as a matter of law, in this case by failing to set forth in writing its findings and conclusions with respect to why it

granted Verizon's application to build and operate a wireless telecommunication tower next door to them. Without such findings and conclusions the Appellants, as well as this Court, are unable to determine if the Commission, when mandated to do so, considered certain key factors which directly bear on whether the application should be denied or granted.

The South Carolina Local Government Comprehensive Planning Enabling Act of 1994 sets forth specific requirements for counties and municipalities to follow when considering and acting upon applications such as the one Verizon presented to the Aiken County Planning Commission.

In particular S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-360(B) (1976) provides, in part:

(B) The commission shall adopt rules of organizational procedure and shall keep a record of its resolutions, findings, and determinations, which record must be a public record.

S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-360(B) (1976).

Further, S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-370(1976) provides:

The governing authority may provide for the reference of any matters or class of matters to the local planning commission, with the provision that final action on it may not be taken until the planning commission has submitted a report on it or has had a reasonable period of time, as determined by the governing authority to submit a report.

S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-370(1976)

There appears to be no specific South Carolina authority interpreting this statutory obligation with respect to the facts of this case, or offering any guidance as to the extent to which planning commissions must comply with this obligation. In his order dated December 28, 2023, and after reviewing the entirety of 6-29-360(B) (1976), Judge Newman first appears to decide that the Aiken County Planning Commission has no obligation whatsoever to explain its decision in this

case. He then decided that there is “modest” obligation in that regard.

In his order Judge Newman held that “the Commission not only met, but well exceeded its modest obligation under Section 62-29-360(B) of the Act.” To support this conclusion he wrote that the Planning Commission’s staff “investigated and prepared a report” in which it determined that Verizon’s proposed cell tower:

- a. Has met and / or exceeded County adopted IBC and ANSI codes;
- b. Does not conflict with any designated historical site; and
- c. Does not pose an ‘unacceptable risk or unreasonable probability of’ risks to residents, the public, employees, and agent of the County or employees of service providers”

(Order of Judge Newman dated 12/28/23).

First, there is absolutely no public written decision or report of the Planning Commission’s members themselves setting forth their decision in this case, nor any of the findings set forth above. All of these findings were made by the Planning Commission’s staff before the members of the Commission even considered and acted upon the Verizon application. (Record of Planning Commission; Commission Staff Report - Telecommunication Tower Application - dated 9/30/22). Further, there is nothing in the record for this matter by which the members of the Planning Commission adopted any findings made by its staff.

Further, and despite a recognition of at least “modest obligation” of the Planning Commission, Judge Newman then wrote:

Appellants’ argument proves too much. The Act mandates only that “a record of [the Commissions] resolutions, findings and determination” be kept - it does not specify what form the record must take or require the Commission to explain its decision.

(Order of Judge Newman dated 12/28/23).<sup>1</sup>

Second, and perhaps most importantly, the Planning Commission made no findings or conclusions with respect to certain criteria it must consider while considering Verizon's application for construction and operation of the Cell Tower. Aiken County Ordinance Section 24-3.5.2 sets forth the County's "Overall policy and desired goals for permits for wireless telecommunications facilities", and provides:

*In order to ensure that the placement, construction, and modification of wireless telecommunications facilities protect the county's health, safety, public welfare, environmental features, and nature and character of the community, the county hereby adopts an overall policy with respect to permits for wireless telecommunications facilities for the express purpose of achieving the following goals:*

(1) Requiring permits for any new wireless telecommunications facilities, tower, co-location of antennas, or material modification of an existing wireless telecommunications facility.

(2) Implementing an application process for person(s) seeking permits for wireless telecommunications facilities;

(3) Establishing a policy for examining an application and issuing permits for wireless telecommunications facilities that is both fair and provides consistent disposition.

(4) Promoting and encouraging, wherever possible, the sharing and/or co-location of wireless telecommunications facilities among service providers.

*(5) Regulating the location of wireless telecommunications facilities in such a manner as to minimize adverse, aesthetic and visual impacts on the land, property, buildings, and other facilities located in the area of wireless telecommunications facilities.*

(Aiken County Ordinance Section 24-3.5.2)(emphasis added).

Of note, the Planning Commission staff set forth at the bottom of its report the

---

<sup>1</sup> In their motion to alter and /or amend Judge Newman's Order dated 12/28/23 the Appellants asked Judge Newman, without success, to clarify what he meant by stating "Appellants' argument proves too much." (Motion to Alter and / or Amend dated 1/8/24).

following statement, consistent with the mandate provided by Section 24-3.5.2 of the County Ordinance:

The telecommunications tower regulations are intended to protect the County's health, safety, public welfare, environmental features, and nature and character of the community.

(Staff Report - Telecommunication Tower Application - dated 9/30/22).

Despite its Staff's recognition of this mandate, the members of the Planning Commission did not make any findings or conclusions with respect to them.

In addition, the Planning Commission made no findings or conclusions as to whether the property where the cell tower is proposed to be located is governed by restrictive covenants which prohibit the operation of a commercial enterprise within Bluffwood East. Such findings are necessary for purposes of determining whether the Cell Tower is "legally permissible". (See Aiken County Ordinance Section 24-3.5.5.(6)(b): "The application shall include the following statements in writing: (b)The construction of the wireless telecommunications facility is legally permissible, including, but not limited to the fact that the applicant is authorized to do business in the state and county." <sup>2</sup>

In fact, the issue of whether the Restrictive Covenants prohibit the construction and operation of a cell tower Mr. Waters' property is the most hotly-contested issue in this case. The Appellants submit that the controversy over this issue is why three hearings took place before the Commission, and extensive discussions were had regarding the Restrictive Covenants, before it verbally voted, wrongfully, to approve Verizon's application. (Planning Commission Record).

---

<sup>2</sup> Verizon's application for construction of the Cell Tower contains none of this information.

In his Order dated December 28, 2023 Judge Newman concluded that the Appellants did not raise, as part of this appeal, the issue of whether the Restrictive Covenants prohibit the construction and operation of a cell tower on Mr. Waters' property. The Appellants submit that this issue is fully embraced in their Notice of Appeal of the Planning Commission's Decision, was fully argued initially on appeal before Judge Newman without objection, and also was made part of their Motion to Alter and / or Amend his Order dated December 28, 2023. (Notice of Appeal dated 2/20/23; Transcript of Hearing for Motion to Alter and/or Amend).

**II. THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED TO THE PLANNING COMMISSION DOES NOT SUPPORT ITS DECISION TO ALLOW VERIZON TO CONSTRUCT AND OPERATE A CELL TOWER WITHIN THE BLUFFWOOD EAST COMMUNITY.**

As stated above it is difficult for the Appellants to determine why and how the Planning Commission reached the decision it made in this case without having the benefit of written findings and conclusions supporting that decision. If this Court, however, finds that the Commission adequately set forth the reasons for its decision the Appellants contend that the evidence contained in the record for this case does not support that decision.

It is clear that the construction and operation of a cell tower on Mr. Waters' property is not allowed and for two principal reasons. First, as argued above, the clear terms of the Restrictive Covenants for Bluffwood East prohibit it.

Second, and even more importantly, construction and operation of the Cell Tower in the Bluffwood East community is not consistent with the mandates set forth in the Aiken County Ordinance in that it does not protect the "environmental features and nature and character" of the community. See Aiken County Ordinance, Section 24-3.5.2.

In that regard Mr. Waters himself has defined the environmental features and nature

and character of the Bluffwood East community by way of the Restrictive Covenants he produced himself, and placed upon the lands owned by the Appellants as well as the other plaintiffs in the lawsuit filed against him. These covenants are typical of those placed upon land to protect the character and nature of equestrian communities.

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