**RECEIVED**

**Feb 25 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM AIKEN COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
The Honorable Clifton B. Newman, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2024-000659  
Case No. 2023-CP-02-00412

---

David L. Lambert and Julia H. Beamish,..... Appellants,

v.

Aiken County Planning Commission, Aiken County Government,  
Pyramid Network Solutions for Verizon Wireless,..... Respondents.

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS  
AIKEN COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION  
AND AIKEN COUNTY GOVERNMENT**

---

Bradley T. Farrar (S.C. Bar No. 66381)  
Aiken County Attorney  
1930 University Parkway

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

Contrast this with the form and level of memorialization required of a local board of appeals pursuant to S.C.Code Ann. § 6-29-800(F):

All final decisions and orders of the board must be in writing and be permanently filed in the office of the board as a public record. All findings of fact and conclusions of law must be separately stated in final decisions or orders of the board which must be delivered to parties of interest by certified mail. (Emphasis supplied herein).

No such written decision is required of a local planning commission. Notwithstanding the absence of a requirement to issue a written decision, in addition to the actual notice of the decision that Appellants acknowledged was given to them in person at the conclusion of the Planning Commission’s hearing of this Application, on January 25, 2023, Aiken County Planning and Development staff sent a copy of the Commission’s “findings and determinations,” pursuant to § 6-29-360, to the Applicant, noting in great detail:

Section 24-3.5.16(2), “Action on an Application for a Permit for Wireless Telecommunications Facilities,” of the Aiken County Land Management Regulations (LMR) states, “(i)f the Planning Commission approves the permit for a wireless telecommunications facility, then the applicant shall be notified of such approval in writing within ten (10) calendar days of the Planning Commission’s action, and the permit shall be issued within thirty (30) days after all conditions of such approval is (sic) met. Except for necessary Building Permits and subsequent Certificates of Occupancy, once a permit has been granted hereunder, no additional permits or approvals from the County shall be required by the County for the wireless telecommunications facility covered by the permit.” In accordance with the ordinance, this letter is to inform you of the decision of the Aiken County Planning Commission. The application was approved with contingencies by a majority, at the January 19, 2023 meeting of the Aiken County Planning Commission. When contingencies are met, the LMR permit for the site will be issued and then the project

may proceed with applying for a Building Permit... (Emphasis supplied herein). (R. 22, 96).

As the Appellants are not the Applicant, they would not have been mailed a copy of this written decision of Respondent Aiken County Planning Commission unless they had requested a copy of it. However, the January 25, 2023, letter is a public record, and the Appellants and anyone else would have been provided with a copy of that decision upon request, with or without the need to seek a copy under the South Carolina Freedom of Information Act.

In *Vulcan Materials Co. v. Greenville County Bd. of Zoning Appeals*, 342 S.C. 480, 536 S.E.2d 892 (S.C.App. 2000), the Court held with respect to legacy board procedures as well as to current requirements:

Both the old and new statutory schemes require a zoning board's decision to be in writing and contain separate findings of fact and conclusions of law. Compare S.C. Code Ann. § 6-7-740 (1977), with S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-800 (Supp. 1999). Neither statutory scheme specifies the form the writing must take; however, the South Carolina Administrative Procedures Act recognizes both written documents and records of proceedings as appropriate formats for final decisions in contested cases. S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-350 (Supp. 1999). Generally, the format of a final decision is immaterial as long as the substance of the decision is sufficiently detailed so as to allow a reviewing court to determine if the decision is supported by the facts of the case. *Able Communications, Inc. v. South Carolina Pub. Serv. Comm'n.*, 290 S.C. 409, 351 S.E.2d 151 (1986); *Cloyd v. Mabry*, 295 S.C. 86, 367 S.E.2d 171 (Ct. App. 1988); cf. *Ross v. Medical Univ. of South Carolina*, 328 S.C. 51, 65, 492 S.E.2d 62, 70 n.6 (1997) (allowing a committee's report to fulfill the "findings of fact and conclusions of law" requirement of § 1-23-350 where the letter announcing the committee's decision did not meet the requirement). (Emphasis supplied herein).

Similarly, in *Wyndham Enterprises, LLC v. City of North Augusta*, 401 S.C. 144, 735 S.E.2d 659 (S.C.App. 2012), the Court held:

The minutes normally constitute the BZA's final findings. S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-800(F) ("All final decisions and orders of the board must be in writing and be permanently filed in the office of the board

as a public record. All findings of fact and conclusions of law must be separately stated in final decisions or orders of the board which must be delivered to parties of interest by certified mail."'). But the transcript can constitute the final findings if the minutes are found invalid. See *Vulcan Materials Co. v. Greenville County Bd. of Zoning Appeals*, 342 S.C. 480, 493-94, 536 S.E.2d 892, 899 (Ct. App. 2000). (Emphasis supplied herein).

In *Austin v. Board of Zoning Appeals, Town of Hilton Head*, 362 S.C. 29, 606 S.E.2d 209,

the Court held:

Though the statute does not specify the form the writing must take, it is well-settled that courts reviewing the decisions of zoning boards and other administrative agencies may look to written documents as well as records of proceedings as sufficient formats for final decisions. For example, in *Vulcan Materials Co. v. Greenville County Board of Zoning Appeals*, 342 S.C. 480, 536 S.E.2d 892 (Ct. App. 2000), this court upheld a circuit court finding that a transcript of a zoning board hearing constituted a sufficient final written decision. On the question of whether the transcript alone could satisfy the statutory requirement of a written decision, the court opined that "[g]enerally, the format of a final decision is immaterial as long as the substance of the decision is sufficiently detailed so as to allow a reviewing court to determine if the decision is supported by the facts of the case." *Id.* at 494, 536 S.E.2d at 899; (Emphasis supplied herein).

Perhaps most striking in regard to the Court's emphasis on substance over form in local board decisions is its finding in *Venture Engineering for DT LLC, Respondent v. Horry County Zoning Board of Appeals*, 433 S.C. 419, 858 S.E.2d 638 (S.C.App. 2021):

Although the Board's written order failed to set forth any reasoning, the hearing transcript and the Board's minutes indicate the Board's decision was supported by the testimony of residents in the surrounding community expressing concerns about particulates, noise, and traffic.<sup>10</sup> Additionally, the Board's minutes recount a Board member's statement that the Board "had concerns with the nuisance, airborne particulates[,] and the traffic from the heavy trucks." Therefore, the neighbors' testimony likely persuaded the Board to conclude that the requested variances would be a "substantial detriment" to surrounding residences and would harm the surrounding community's character. (Emphasis supplied herein).

All of the foregoing cases deal with boards of appeal, zoning entities that have an express requirement under § 6-29-800(F) that, “[a]ll final decisions and orders of the board must be in writing and be permanently filed in the office of the board as a public record. All findings of fact and conclusions of law must be separately stated in final decisions or orders of the board which must be delivered to parties of interest by certified mail.” Again, no such requirement exists for planning commissions.

The voluminous 299-page Record on Appeal to the Circuit Court constitutes one of the most exhaustive considerations a local planning commission could give to a single application, and includes exhibits introduced over three months of Respondent’s regular meetings, to wit:

- (1) January 25, 2023, Letter to Mr. Lannie Greene, Pyramid Network Services from Aiken County Planning Commission (R. 22, 96);
- (2) October 20, 2022, Aiken County Planning Commission Agenda (R. 97);
- (3) October 20, 2022, Aiken County Planning Commission Meeting Minutes (R. 131);
- (4) Transcript from October 20, 2022, Aiken County Planning Commission Meeting (R. 140);
- (5) November 17, 2022, Aiken County Planning Commission Agenda (R. 159);
- (6) November 17, 2022, Aiken County Planning Commission Meeting Minutes (R. 196);
- (7) Transcript from November 17, 2022, Aiken County Planning Commission Meeting (R. 202);
- (8) January 19, 2023, Aiken County Planning Commission Agenda (R. 244);
- (9) January 19, 2023, Aiken County Planning Commission Meeting Minutes (R. 303);
- (10) Transcript from January 19, 2023, Aiken County Planning Commission Meeting (R. 308);
- (11) November 21, 2022, Letter from Bradley T. Farrar to Clark W. McCants, III, Esq., and Nick Steinhaus, Esq. (R. 252);
- (12) Verizon Site Plans (R. 110, 172, 280, 340, 400);

- (13) Restrictive Covenants (R. 393);
- (14) Preliminary Plat of Bluffwood Estate (R. 395); and
- (15) Geographical Information System (GIS) Map from qPublic.net (R. 392).

There is abundant evidence in the record to support Respondent Aiken County Planning Commission's approval of the Application. The trial court correctly found that in reaching its decision, the Planning Commission did not abuse its discretion. *Grays Hill Baptist v. Beaufort Cnty.*, 431 S.C. 630, 637, 850 S.E.2d 29, 33 (2020); *Bishop v. Hightower*, 292 S.C. 358, 356 S.E.2d 420 (Ct. App. 1987); *Ex parte LaQuinta Motor Inns, Inc.*, 279 S.C. 598, 310 S.E. (2d) 438, 439 (Ct. App. 1983).

**II. The trial court correctly ruled that the Planning Commission's decision was based on criteria set forth in the Aiken County Land Management Regulations.**

Despite the fact that § 6-29-360(B) imposes no requirements as to the "record" of the findings and determinations county planning commissions are to keep, Respondent had before it for consideration numerous written submissions from Aiken County Planning Staff, the applicant, the Appellants and their counsel, input from all interested speakers over three (3) separate meetings, and all of the items set forth in its agenda packets for those meetings. Included among those submissions, and a key part of the record of this case, are the Staff Reports, which provided in part:

According to Chapter 24, Article 3, Section 5.7(1) of the Aiken County Code of Ordinances, the Planning Commission shall review applications for new telecommunication towers based on four criteria. The criteria and staff comments related to each are provided below. Disapproval from the Planning Commission must be based on substantial evidence in the record and the reasons stated on the record.

a. "Conflict with safety and safety-related codes and requirements."  
The site has met and/or exceeded County adopted IBC and ANSI codes.

b. "Conflict with a designated historical site."

The site does not conflict with any designated historical site listed with the State Historic Preservation Office.

c. "The placement and location of wireless telecommunications facilities which would create an unacceptable risk, or the reasonable probability of such, to residents, the public, employees and agents of the County, or employees of the service provider or other service providers."

Staff is not aware of any unacceptable risk or reasonable probability of such that the placement and location of the wireless telecommunication facility would create to residents, the public, employees, and agents of the County, or employees of the service provider or other service providers.

d. "Conflicts with the provisions of this section 24-3.5."

A list of deficient items is attached and was forwarded to the applicant by email on 9/28/2022.

The telecommunication tower regulations are intended to protect the County's health, safety, public welfare, environmental features, and nature and character of the community. (R. 106).

The Aiken County Planning Staff Report further provided in the "Deficient Items List for Old 96 Indian Trail":

- The Functional Performance Standards and Guaranty need to be completed and submitted.
- Sec. 24-3.5.5 (8, k) "The azimuth, size and center line height location of all proposed and existing antennas on the supporting structure." The center line height has already been shown, that part of this section does not need to be completed.
- Sec. 24-3.5.5 (8, l) A bufferyard plan will need to be submitted.
- Sec. 24-3.5.5 (11) "The applicant shall provide certification from a professional civil or structural engineer licensed in the state that

the telecommunications facility is designed and will be constructed to meet all county, state, and federal structural requirements for loads, including wind and ice loads and including, but not limited to all applicable ANSI (American National Standards Institute) guidelines.” The applicant has indicated this item will be submitted prior to permitting.

- Sec. 24-3.5.13 (2) “There shall be no development or construction of habitable (residential) buildings within the fall zone or setback area set forth in the immediately preceding section 24-3.5.13.1. The applicant shall provide written proof that the owner of property on which a tower is proposed to be erected has been notified of this limiting provision regarding habitable (residential) buildings. Such proof of notification of this limiting provision shall be in the form of a written and properly executed agreement between the applicant and the owner of the property, or in other form which is approved by the planning and development director.” Letter from the property owner will need to be submitted.

- Engineer shown on CDs is licensed by the State of Alabama, per ordinance, engineers must be licensed by the State of South Carolina. (R. 108).

The Planning Commission had before it all of those items set forth in the Staff Reports, including the Aiken County Code of Ordinance requirements for telecommunications towers, in addition to all of the documents and exhibits offered by the Appellants and by anyone else interested in this case available to it for its consideration, and devoted substantial time and took extensive testimony from all interested speakers before voting to approve the Application.

The Commission also heard witness testimony regarding restrictive covenants (R. 149-150, 153-157, 203-205, 216-218, 221-222, 224-225, 228-230, 236-237, and 239-242), setback requirements (R. 143-144, 148, 213), cell tower fall zones (R. 213-214), Verizon’s attempts to co-locate on a tower rather than construct a new tower (R. 143, 216), the completeness of its Application (R. 145, 211, 218, 233), the authority of the landowner intending to lease the subject property to the Applicant (R. 210, 216, 238), zoning classification of the property (R. 141, 203), the proposed cell tower’s height (R. 141), any outstanding items relative to the Application (R.

142, 211), the need for cell phone coverage in the area (R. 143, 238), “functional performance standards” (R. 145), engineer qualifications (R. 148), and compliance with the Aiken County Land Management Regulations (R. 210).

The Planning Commission’s decision is supported by the record of this case, under circumstances where State law imposes no requirements as to the type, form, or detail of the record a planning commission is to keep. S.C.Code Ann. § 6-29-360. Thus, trial court affirmed the Planning Commission’s decision.

**III. The trial court correctly ruled that the Appellants did not properly present or preserve the issue of restrictive covenants, and that even if that issue had been properly presented or preserved, it would fail as a matter of law.**

Appellants’ Notice of Appeal to Circuit Court contains no mention of restrictive covenants. Nonetheless, and in the spirit of due process and a meaningful opportunity to be heard, the Court heard the Appellants on that issue, concluding that:

Appellants final argument that the proposed cell tower would violate certain restrictive covenants applicable to the Indian Trail Property is forfeited and fails as a matter of law. Appellants (sic) to provide arguments or supporting authority for their position even after Verizon argued extensively that the restrictive covenants do not apply at the hearing. Therefore, I find the question of whether restrictive covenants apply to the Indian Trail property and is not properly before the Court in this appeal. *Glasscock, Inc. v. U.S. Fid. & Guar. Co.*, 348 S.C. 76, 81, 557 S.E.2d 689, 691 (Ct. App. 2001) (“South Carolina law clearly states that short, conclusory statements made without supporting authority are deemed abandoned and therefore not presented for review.”) (internal citations omitted).

The Court then gave substantive consideration to the issue of restrictive covenants<sup>4</sup> even though not properly postured:

---

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